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Most Endangered

Snyder Memorial Methodist Church

228 M. Laurs Streel

Criginally known as Trinity Methodist Episcopal
Church, this church across from City Hall is a fine
example of Gothic Rewwal style. Buill in 1502-03
siyder Memonal Methodist Church was one of the
first churches to be rebuill following the 1901 fire. It
was designed by architect J.HW. Hawkins, and its
exterior features detaled carved stone and
outstanding stained-glass windows. During the event
known as Ax Handle Saturday, the church became a
refuge for Black civil rights demonstrators under
attack by a white mob. It is owned by the City of
Jacksonvilie but has remained vacant for most of the
! past decade,
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The Laura Street Trio

Forgyth & Laura Siresls

The Laura Street Tno consists of wo skyscrapers—
the Forida Life Building and the Bisbee Buikding—
and the Old Florida Mational Bank, also known as the
Marble Bank. The Marble Bank was designed by
architect Edwin H. Glidden in the Classical Revival
siyie and bullt n 1202, The Bisbes Bulding was
constructed betaeen 1908 and 1909, designed by
Henry J. Klutho in the Praine style. The 11-story
Florda Lite Bulding was also designed by Kiutho
built between 1911 and 1912, and is the only one of
the three that faces Laura Streel. After standing
vacant for yvears, the Trio was purchased by the City
of Jacksomille in 2002, In 2011, the Alkins Group
began renovations to comvert the Trio into a
Courtyard Marriott Hotel. In April 2025, the City of
Jacksonville filed a default motion against Laura Trno
LLC, seeking 1o resume foreclosure proceedings and
M initate a public auction of the buildings, citing over
B ZR00,000 in unpaid code wiolation fines and the
R owner's failure to respond to the city's complaint.
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Annie L}'ﬂe Public School

1011 Peninsisar Place [onginally Gdmore Siree)

Budll im 1917 and designed by architect Rutledge Holmes, Public Schoal No. 4
anginally overliooked Rierside Park before constrecton of the Interstate 95 and
Interstate 10 Interchange Solated it The schools most prominent anchitectural
fealure is a Meo-Classical pedimented pomico supported Dy cobossal Conc columns
al the entrance. Vacant since the 1970s, the bullding has fRced NuMenous threats
A of demodiion despiie s designaton as a histonc landmark. The Annle Lyte
¥ Presenvation Group has worked drelessly 1o stabiize the structune in hopes of
inding & sultable adapthee reuse for the bullding.
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Atlantic Beach Elementary School
275 Sherry Drnva

E-:- “- Public School No. 656 was built in 1940, designed by Max L. Worthbey
who also built the duPont Middle School in San Jose, It was funded by the

r WPA, which paid half of the $60,0004 cost

Phiske by Mchic) Donlop

West Riverside Elementary School
2801 Hulzrl.hul Chepl

. Tr West Riverside Elementary School, located al 2801 Herschel Sireel. was onginally bullt in
1911 as Publlc School Mo, 12. Addmons to the bulding were designed by architect Henry
} J. Klutho m 1916 and 1922, Crer thime, the school's design evolved, ncorporating elements
from Meg-Classical Rewvival, Pralrie Schoal, and Mediterranean Rewival styles, all of which
remsxin evident today. Sauated within a reqistered histonc district, the bulding benefits from
CErLaln protecions against demoison

Fhois by 1||'J_|l\.nl

Fishweir Elementary School
07T Hedgchel Stegr

"4 Public School No. 20 was built on a former cow pasture in 1917 by O.P.
Wioodcock, with addibons by Hemny 1. Elutho in 1926 and Jefferson D
Pow'ed] i 1928 and 1930,
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South San Jose [ Kings Trail Elementary School
7401 Cid Kirgs Road Souih

o Opened in 1958 as South San Jose, the school was renamed Kings Trail in 19746
during the Amercan Bitentenndal o reflect its boation on the histons Kings Road
datimg 1o the 1770s. The Dunal County School Board has announced thal Kings
Trail (Public School Mo. 203) will permanently close al the end of the curmen
schoal year. Once surmownded by Skinners Dairy Farm, the sité is now bordered by
apartiment comglexes and may be redeveloped
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Annie R. Morgan Elementary School

864 51, Claur Stresst

Public Schoal Na. 21 opened in 1916, one of
12 schools funded by a 51 million bond issue
approved by Donval County saters in 1915, The
schood 5 sl open, but slated for closure

Bhayrn dy Weapne Weod

Brentwood Elementary School
1?54:' Springhieid Bhd

Public School No. 15 was built in 1915 and closed in 2021
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Henry F. Kite Elementary School
B30 Lem Tuemer Road

= Riverview Elementary School No. 37 was completed in 1929, Between 1930 and
1860, Henry F, Kile served as the school's principal, and afier Kite's retirement, the

school was renamed in his honar in 1964, The school permanently closed in 2023

L
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Whitehouse Elementary School
3750 "_-upnngl'rclnl Bl d

Opened as Public School Mo. 51 in 1926 with fve classrooms and a library,
serving Grades 1-8, The elaborate architeciure on the fronl side of ihe building
remains intact From 1955-1968, 18 more classrooms wene added. In 1987, the
criginal building was rentvaled and a new building added o provide office Space
The ariginal structure was again renovated in 2011, adding a caletorium and four
mare classroams
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Ortega Elementary School

4010 Balic Siree

Public School Mo, 16 was Bull in 1923 designed by Mark & Shehall in the
Mediterranean Revial siyle, replacing the angnal school building clrca 1914,

Under Duwval Counly Publhic Schools’ revised Baster Facilites Plan, Orega
Elementary Schoo is scheduled (o close in July 2030, with its students menging mto
a mewly constructed Veneta Elementary Schoao,
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Mount Olive A.M.E. Church

Bd41 Frankiin Sireel

The firsi sanciuary of Mount Olive A M.E. Church
was a small wooden Building constructed on this
site Im 1287, facing Pippin Streel. By 1920, the
congregation had oulgrown the origmal sfructure,
AL, Lewis, building commitiee chaman, seleched
plans drawm by Richard L. Brown, Jacksonwille's
first Black architect, who ded in 1948 at age 94,
) Building commillee char Abraham Lincoln Lewis
(1865-1947) was the mfluential Jacksomdlle
business leader who founded the Afro American
= Lile Insurance Company and the community of
American Beach

Mount Calvary Baptist Church
301 Spruce Sireed

Mount Cakvary Baptist Church began in the
Brooklyn neighborhood in 1892 with a one-story
wooden building built on this site for its African
! American  congregalion.  The  building  had
remaimed wnchanged for fifty vears when the
church’s ninth pastor, Reverend William Hill,
arrived in 1942, Hill emvisioned a grand building
that would reflect the role of the church as an
anchor for the Brookhm community. He asked
Black architect James Edward Hutchins to design
the new church. It was constructed by craftsmen
wha were members of the congregation, led by
contractor Tom Thompson. Completed in 1949,
! this Gothic Rewvival brick sanctuary with twin
square towers sened the congregation another
50 years, until it moved from Brookhyn to a new
location in 1999, Vacant ever since, this is the
largest remaining  building from  Brooklyn's
historic Black community, and finding an adaptive
reuse for it is a priority
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Endangered Historic Dwellings

Wesley Manor (Westminster Woods)
25 Hale Road 13

Designed by famed Jacksonwville archilect Robert ©. Broward, Wesley Manor
was the largest commissian of his career and one of his most innovative, Weslay
Manor k5 an irmporant examphe of the Mid-cenury Modern style of architeciure
practiced by Broward and his contemporaries in Jacksonville. Buill as a senior-
living facility atentive o the needs of is residents, the onginal bulldings hane no
resiecl for slasrs and bave works of an by local artists integrated ihroughout, A
2015 5t Johns County PUD calls Tor the demalition and replacement of nearly
all of the Browand struciures
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Victorian Duplexes

316 and 320 Joferson Siroel

Twp-story twin duplexes wend built in 1906, according o the
Jacksonville Propermy Appraiser. Demonsirating the persuashe
influence of the Queen Anne siyle, the angled two-ter balcomes
and ociagonal cupolas, gable roofs wilh decoratve shingles,
single siling, plaster interior walts, and soft pine floonng wmed
rather ordinary Trame buldings into chammeng sructures at the
ium of the 20th century. Usable space is approxmately 870
stuang feel per Hoor. Cwmed by Clara White Mission since 2014,

Post Civil War Cottage
32E Chelsea Street (anginally Cedar, then Chasles Street)
A large contingent of Black Union soldiers came to Jacksonwille in 1864 during the
tfown's fourth occupation of the Cihdl War, A gamison of both white and Black Federal
oy soidiers were stationed in Brookhyn for several years after the war as part of a miitary
b occupation to restore order, In 1868, Miles Price platied Brooklyn and began selling
Ids. Some of the Black Union veterans remained or returmed to live in this
@ neighborhood and were joined by other former slaves, making the norifwestem
i . portion of Brookhyn a Black residential community. This is the last of numerous two-
B8 and three-room small wooden cottages constructed after the war in this part of
Brookiyn, providing an impartant link with Jacksonwile's Reconstrction era,

resy of Mgk Wrances, Aram Kran

Dr. Horace R. Drew Mansion
245 ' Thind Sereat

Dr. Horace R. Drew, a physician and grandson of Jacksonville ploneer
Columbus Drew, was the first owner and occupant of this house built around
1909, The explic residence exhibits one of the most inventive uses of concrete
blocks as a buikding material in Jacksomdlle. The eclectic design bormows
slEments fl'l:ll'l1 e Tudor Hevival, GIIIE'E'I'I- anne, angd Spar'.rsn Coonial Revinsal
styles. It is one of the most significant residences in the Springfield Historic
District, and in recent wears it has been badly deteriorating. 245 West 3rd 5T
LLE was in the process of resioring the Drew mansion overlooking Kiutho
Park, but lithe work has been done for several years
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Scottish Rite Masonic Temple

065 Hubbard Sireet

Roy A, Benjamin was the associate architect on this Egyptian Rewvival
style building designed by Hyman W Wilcower. Bulll fmom 1924 (o
1926 at a cosl of nearky 300,000, it was the first permanent home af
the Jacksomille Scoltish Rite Masan, a group formed in 1892 Sull in
s use by the Masons, the building is in serious need of repair, including
leaks in the rool

Independent Life Building

233 W Duval Sireed

KEJ Architects designed the Independent Life and Accident Insurance Co
building, which was completed in 1955, Independent Life relocated its offices
in 1875 to what 5 now 1 Independent Sguare, The Jacksonmlle Electric
Authority acquired the Duval Sireet building in 1976 and vacated # in the
19905, Plans were announced in 2019 to conver the 19-story, 180 000-
suare-fool striscture inlo 135 apardment units, with the adaptive reuse akso
including a 21,000-square-foot ground-floor groceny store and a 10,000-
suare-foot roofiop restaurant and lounge, The building was designated a local
landmark in 2020

Ambassador Hotel

400 W, Xilia Sinect

Thie Ambassadar Hotel, located 8t 420 M. Julks Street, was completed in 1923
at a cost of 3300,000. In 1924, it was described as “Jacksonaiie’s nrst big
downtowm apartment buildng.” Henamed the Ambassador Hotel in 1955, the
building received its Mational Historic designation in 1983, Because of its
historic classification, the facade of the structure must remain unchanged
Today, the buiding |15 undergoimg renovabon by AXIS Hodels LLOC dor
comersion inte a Latuinta Inn & Suites.

Arlington Federal Savings & Loan
B3 University Bhed
T Built in 1961, the 5 068-sqguare-fool bank sits on 165 acres and was one of the lasi
buildings designed by Edwin T, Reeder, a Miami-based architecl. Known for its
distincinve Mid-Century Modern latticewaork facade and stone surfaces thal resemble
waves, the building stands ol as a unigue archileciural example of is era, The
Jacksomville Historical Sociely, in parnership with Old Arlinglon Inc,, successiully
applied for and secured its designation as a lecal historic landmark.
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Eartha M.M. White Youth Recreation Center

4050 Moncriel Road

Originally buillt in 1938 as a residence/museum in the Bungalow architectural style,
a4 the building included o adjacent columns with Corinthian capitals, reporedly
rescued from a demolished downtown building. It Is also one of few buildings and
houses remaining from the period when Moncrief Springs was a popular resor for
the African American community

Claude Nolan Cadillac Building

AT WL Main Sineeq

Built in 1912, this was an important Prairie-style building designed by architect Henry
J, Klutho far Clagde Nolan, who started this Cadillag dealership in 1907 and was one
of this city's most wel-known innovators, In addition to founding the oldest automobile
business in Jacksomville, Molan is also credited with onginating the idea of sefling
automohiles on instaliments in 1810, a practice thal was soon adopted by the entire
automotive industry

JAX Brewing Company

1420 Wesi 16" Sreed

R In 1913, German-born Willlam Ostihed, a brewer from 50 Louks, moved W
. Jacksonville bo stan has own brewery on West 16th Street near Myrtle Street—just
4 a few Mocks from present-day Stanion College Preparatony School. It became
anly the second breawery to open in Florida, and the popalanity of Cetrers JA
e bed to the expansion of the facdity over the Years. Anticipating the repeal of
Prohibition, the Jacksomdlle Brewing Compamy began preparations months in
advance and Wwas meady 1o resume opefatons wihin a week of the 21st
Amendment’s ratiiication on December 5, 18323, wheth re-legalized the sale of
alcohale beverages.

Universal Marion | JEA Building

71 W. Church Strent

Built in 1963 and designed by the prominent New York firm Ketchum & Sharp, this
19-story skyscraper is one of the masterpieces of Downtown Jacksomillie's Mid-
Century Modemn architecture. Its oniginal major tenant was the Universal Marion
Company of Miami, which cwned two Florida newspapers and produced films
through a subsidiary. hvey's Department Store occupied much of the two lower
flnors. At the time of its construction, it was the tallest building on the Morthbank
and the second taliest in the city after the Prudential Building. The top floor once
featured a revohing restaurant called The Embers, and the building remains highly
recognizabie today for its distinctive hexagonal “honeycomb™ windows. Listed on
the Mational Register of Historic Places, it is also a contributing property in the
Downtown Jacksonville Historic District. In earty 2023, JEA vacated the building for
new headquarters and placed the structure on the market.
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Charles E. Bennett Federal Building
400 W, Bay Street

Completed in 1966, the Charles E. Bennett Federal Bullding is an 11-story
structure that has long served as a fodure in downtown Jacksomalle. The
bullding was named for U.S. Representative Charles E. Bennett, who
served Florida from 1949 to 1993 and was known as the “conscience of
Congress” for his dedication to ethics in government. Renovated In 2004,
the upgrades included the removal of asbestos-containing materials and
lead-based paint, along with improvements to interior finishes, HVAC, and
electrical systems to enhance indoor air quality and energy efficiency. A
defining architectural feature of the bullding is Evolution of Government, a
550-foot-long concrete and aggregate relief sculpture created by Albert
Yrana and commissioned through the Fine Arts In Mew Federal Buildings
Program. In early 2025, the General Sendces Administration listed the
bullding for potential sale as a “non-core” property. Although the list was
later removed from the agency's website, the building’s fulure remains
uncertain. It currently houses federal offices including the Internal Revenue
Sendce, the U5, Department of Housing and Urban Development, and the
1.5, Department of Labor

Old Duval County Armory

851 B, Markel Sweal

Completed in 1916, the Duval County Bimorny was designed by architects Talley &
Summer o serve as a facility for local MNational Guard roops. The buiding’s
monumental, fortress-like appearance features batilemented towers, parapets, and
a dramatic arched entrance at the center of the facade. A carved stone shield
bearing the emblem of the Florda Mational Guard crowns the central paviion. In
1962, the armory was renamed the Maxwell G, Smyder Armony i onor of the
commanding gensral of the Mational Guard's 48th Armored Dhision

s
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Genovar's Hall

B84 W, Ashley Stree

: Construcied around 1895 by Sebastian Genowvar to house his grocery business
and laler a saleon, this building sits al the intersection of Ashley and Jefferson
streets—ance the heart of nightlite for LaVilla's African American commanity during
the jazz era of the 19205 and '30s, s dual significance as a rare pre-1901 Fire
structure and a landmark from the swing-era music scene of Black Jacksomille
makes it a vital piece of the city’s cultural history and a building in urgent need of
restoradion
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Sad Losses:H

Ford Motor Company Assembly Plant

100 vwamball Street
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The Ford matar Company Assembly Plant swas constructed in 1924 and
designed by renowned mdustrial architect Albert Kahn, The plant was
imstrumenial in assembling Ford Model T and Model A wehicles and
remained operational until the late 19605

Fleming Bowden Residence | Fairbanks Road Residences
3023 Loreno Raad § 3301 and 3318 Fairbanks Road

One City, Many Stories

The 1907 Feming Bowden Residence, siluated on a 23.6-acre fammsiead in
Mandarn, was a wo-story farmbouse buill for Fleming H. Bowden, a local
hiscksmith, segetable peddier, and longlime Duval County Supendsor of
Elections, The hame, with s wraparound weranda, was an example of eany
20-century rural residential architecture i Jacksonvlle. Neardby, the earny
19005 homes al 3301 and 3318 Fairbanks Road were part of the same hisono
landscape. In January 2024, the property was sold for 57.15 million 19
accommodate a panned residental subdidsion. Prior (o redeselopasen
proposals 1o presense of relocate the sifuctures wene considered bul not
pursued, and the buldings were subseguently demalished as part of the
project
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Jessie Ball DuPont Center
40 E, Adams Streed

considered state-of-the-an al the Gme, Desigied by local anchibect Taylof
# Hardwick, the 126 000-square-foal, three-story  building  sereed
Jacksonville's Ebrany patrons until its closure in 2005, In 2013, the duPant
[l Fund purchased the decommissioned and deleriorating structune for $2
million and launched a two-year, 325 millon renovation led by KBJ
Architects. Completed i 2015, the ravitalized building ninw serves as a hub
far local nonprofit ofganizations and slands as a model for the adaplive
relse of histars structures

Elena Flats
122 E. Durval Stesl

o o Euilt in 1909, Elena Flats is one of the last remaining historic structures
'-'7".""'1 = g from what was once a wvibrant downtown rooming house district
- A B developed after the Great Fire of 1901, Originally serving middie-class

- B workers, it was converted in the 1950s into a rpoming house for Jones
College students, By the late 19705, the building had been subdivided
into as many as 25 rooms, and owver the following decades, it suffered
from neglect and deterioration, Last used for nightly and weekly rentals
in the early 20005, the nearly 7.000-square-foot building was
purchased in 2015 by Investors Jack Meeks and JoAnn Tredennick

After securing historic tax credits and nvesting nearly $3 million in

T e E' "ﬁ!

Bostwick Building / Cowford Chophouse

101 E. Bay Sirest

Criginally built in 1902 for the First National Bank and expanded in 1919 by
Guaranty Trust and Savings Bank, this historic building has seen several
fransformations over the years, Following a seres of bank failures, the Bostwick
family purchased the property in the 19305 From 1944 to 1960, renovmed
architect Henry J, Klutho maintained his office in the building. In 2013, after the
owrsers fedl behind on property faxes and sought approval for demalition, the City
of Jacksonwille won a foreclosure suit and forced the sale, The Forking Amazing
Restaurant Group acguired the building in 2014 and opened the Cowford
Chophouse in 2017, presening a key piece of downtown's architeciural hemage,

The Debs Store

1478 Flardin A e

The Debs Store served as the heart of Jacksonvilie's Historic Eastside for nearly
HO years, Built in 1913 for Edward D, Mison, it was purchased in 1927 by
Lehanese |n1migr.=m1 Micodas LeDs, who I'H'II‘_.l'IEd H fF.lI'I1li'!,-'-rIII'| qroceny business
His sons, Nick and Gene, operated the store until 2011, In recent years, Nicolas'
grandson, Joe Debs, partnered with LIFT JAX to resiore the building as a
neighborhood grocery store senving the under-resourced Easiside. Reopened as
ga The Cormer at Debs in September 2024, it now houses a fresh food market
ey S along with career and financial services for area residents
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John Gorrie Junior High School | John Gorrie a condominium
2525 CI}I-E-:;E Sirael

Mamed for the inventor of mechanical cooling, John Gorrie Junior High
School was built in 1923 by the architectural firm Greeley & Benjamin
Listed on both the local and MNational Register of Historic Places, the
school stood unoccupied from the 1970s and fell into neglect. In 2009,
philanthropist  Delgres Bam Weawver purchased the building and
1 | \ I launched a two-year resioration project, ransforming the former

\f ] classrooms into spacious residential condominiums while presenving the

building's historic character

J*‘HLII

Seminole Building | Sweet Pete's

-ﬂﬂd M. Hugun Sweel
In ' Built in 1903 by Ruiledge Holmes and Arthur Gilkes, this 22,000-sguare-foo
bullding served for decades as the Seminole Club, a private men's club in
downtown Jacksonvile. It was renovated in 1875 0 include elevators, but closed in
1989 and again in 2004. Designated a historic structure in 2006, the building
, undenwent a major renovation in 2014, Including the transformation of an okd
basketball court inio a candy production area. Today, it Is home to the Sweel
Pete's candy company and a restaurant, blending historic charm with \ibrant new

use,

Barnett Bank Building

113 W Adams Sires

Designed by a New York architectural firm during a major Jacksonwville
building boom, this 18-story structure was completed in 1926 and became
the city's tallest building at the time. In 2013, Southeast Development
Group acquired the building—along with the netghboring Laura Street Trio
—and began a full rehabilitation in 2017, Completed In just two years, the
$53 million project now houses a commercial bank, a local newspaper, the
downiown campus of the University of North Flosida, and residential
apariments, showcasing a successtul example of historic presenation and
¥ mixed-use redevelopment

Brewster Hospital

243 W Monran Strowl

Crrigenally built I 1885 as a prvate resgdence for Hans Christlan
Peters, a Jacksomalle meat cutter and dealer, the Brewster Hospital
bullding later became assoclated with the city's first hospital for
An-::an Amencans, named in honor of eary benefactor Mrs. George
Pa_ Brewster. Vacant since 1966, the bulding was added to the
Mational Regster of Histonc Places In 1976, In 2005, the City of
Jacksomvilbe redocated the structure froem 915 W Monroe Street o
its current sie and invested 512 milbion noits rehabditation for
adaptve reuse. Since 2020, the Morth Forda Lamd Trust has
cerved as the building™s prinany tenant

One City, Many Stories
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Florida Baptist Convention Building

218 W, Churdh SEreet

Built bemween 18924 and 1825, this was the last downiown office building
designed by renowned architect Henry J. Kiutho and is now recognized as a
hestorlc landmark. Notably, it was the first building of s kind in the couniny
constructed for a stale Bapist organization. A fifth floor was added just a
year afier is completion. Vacant fof nearly 30 years, the reinforced concraie
struciure had fallen nto severe disfepar before being purchased m 2020 by
JWH Real Estate. The bikldng has since been resiored and comverted nto a
rixed-use space leatunng restavrant and retall sultes, along with 24 siudio
% and one-bedroom apariments.

Federal Reserve Building
424 M. Hogan Sireel

m Built in 1923 by Henrieta Dozier, Jacksomville's first female architect, the
. . .. Federal Reserve Building is a three-story, 18430-square-foot structure
L : b designed in the Renaissance Revival style, It served as a branch of the
H Federal Reserve Bank and is now listed as a Natonal Historic Landmark

Abandoned for owver 40 vears, the building was purchased in 2020 by JWB
| Real Estate Capital and is being redeveloped as a mixed-use space
featuring restaurant, business, and event venues

Fire Station Museum
620 E. Bay Sireet

On Aprdl 20, 1886, the Jacksomdlle City Council established a
professional fire depardment, imitially composed of three stations and 17
men. Station 3, known as the Catherine Streel Fire Station, was localed
al 500 E. Bay Street and was staffed entirely by African American
firefiphiers. After the station was disbanded in 1933, the building was
repurposed for use as a fire depariment workshop and later as a storage
facility. B was added to the U5, Matonal Register of Histaric Places in
1972 and converled info the Jacksonville Fire Museum in 1982, The
% struciure was relocated to MetropoBtan Park in 1994 and moved again o
Bay Sireet in 2022
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